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Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge ii

Death Knocks Again

A Mystery Night Play in Four Acts
By

Ted Birkedal

Background Summary:

The Sons of Norway Lodge was the site of a gruesome double murder, just 2 years ago.  Then, the killer was quickly identified and sent to prison for life.  Incredibly, another dead body has just been found at Viking Hall, the home of the Lodge. The police are immediately summoned to investigate.  
Cast of Main Characters

Suspects/Lodge Officers:

1. Martha Slanders-Lodge President 

2. Anna Lise Lefse-Lodge Counselor

3. Bev Skrive-Recording Secretary

4. Taler Stave-Lodge Membership Secretary 

5. Agnar Mildost-Lodge Cultural Director

6. Larry Langsnakke-Lodge Sports Director
7. Thor Hammar-Lodge Foundation Director/ President of the Viking Hall Board

8. Bert Travelhet- Lodge Trustee 
9. Hank Galen-Lodge Trustee

10. Astrid Galen-Lodge Outer Greeter

11. Marit Stordame-Vice President for all of Sons of Norway (who frequently attends the local Board meetings since she lives in our city) 
Detectives:

12. Matt O’Shea-Junior Detective, Police Department (Optional role, see notes below)
13. Nils Skarpnese-Master Detective, Police Department
The Victim
14. Surt Mangepenger, Lodge Treasurer/Treasurer of the Viking Hall Board

Extras – Optional roles that could be visible in the background of the scenes.  These are nonspeaking roles:  
Additional police officers, attendants from the Coroner’s Office (to remove the body) and the unnamed Viking Hall Office Manager. 

Character Backgrounds for the MAIN Characters in the Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge  II:  Death Knocks Again  Mystery Night Event
Suspects/Lodge Officers:

Astrid Galen, Outer Greeter

Being of both Swedish and Norwegian descent Astrid Galen is a deeply conflicted person who exhibits wild swings in mood.  For example, somedays she has cravings for pickled herring; other days she gets insatiable desires for a can of surströmming, a Swedish fermented fish.
She had a secret but sordid affair with Surt Mangepenger in the last year which he suddenly ended without warning.  She was once attracted by Surt’s dark strength, but now she tells herself that she hates him for spurning her without warning.  But in truth she is still deeply in love with him and would take him back in a heartbeat if he would but ask.  She is married to Hank Galen, Trustee, but they recently separated.  (Her last name translates “The crazy.”)

Hank Galen, Trustee

With the easiest job in the Lodge, Hank Galen took it solely so he could watch what went on at the Lodge.  He suspected his now estranged wife, the Outer Greeter Astrid Galen, of having an affair with Surt Mangepenger.  And once he had found them alone in Storage Room 1 in the Viking Hall basement after the Lutefisk dinner.  His wife had looked embarrassed, but Surt just calmly smiled his swarmy smile and both said they were simply returning the big lutefisk pans, after the Hank blurted out his angry accusation. “What are you doing with my wife down here?”  Surt made him feel foolish and he hated Surt for that.  (His last name also translates as “The Crazy.”)

Thor Hammar, Foundation Director
Thor is both the Viking Hall President (Viking Hall Inc. maintains the physical home of the Lodge, “Viking Hall”) and the Foundation Charity Director.  As Viking Hall President he handles the contracts for fixing up Viking Hall and worked with Surt to contract with Einar’s Roofing Enterprises.  He and Surt are friends and ride their bicycles together.  He is quiet on the outside, but like Anna Lisa Lefse and Martha Slanders, he harbors and nourishes secret resentments.  He is particularly incensed that more people of Swedish descent are joining the Lodge every year.  At one Board meeting he blurted out, “If this Swedish recruitment continues we will need to take down King Harald’s picture from the mantle and replace it with a photo of King Carl Gustav.  And while we are at it we might as well change the Lutefisk Dinner (fish preserved in lye) to the Surströmming Dinner (Swedish fermented fish).”

Larry Langsnakke, Sports Director

Larry Langsnakke is the Lodge’s Sports Director.  He never seems to stop moving or stop talking.  He is always in motion.  His sports events are many and diverse, and usually involve partnerships with the local schools, the local state university, and the military.  He believes that the Lodge should cast a wider net for community involvement and he thinks that it should take on a more Pan-Scandinavian outlook.  Surt Mangepenger blocks him in his outreach efforts at every turn.  Surt makes sure there is no money for Larry’s projects with other sports organizations around the city. Though good natured most of the time, he has a flash temper that emerges every now and then.  He is retired from the Marines but no one knows what he did during his time in that fighting outfit—it’s a mystery and it’s the one thing that Larry doesn’t talk about, even for a second.  (His last name translates to “Long Talker.”)

Anna Lisa Lefse, Counselor
Former President of the Lodge, Anna Lisa Lefse seethes with hidden anger directed against Surt.  She, like Martha Slanders, thinks he dipped his hands in the Lodge till and also had something to do with the killing of the Librarian and the Vice President of Sons of Norway.  Openly, she shows nothing of this hatred.  Like most Norwegians she keeps her emotions stoked deep inside where they churn and burn holes in her soul.

Agnar Mildost, Cultural Director
Agnar Mildost dislikes Surt for selling off the signed book with Henrik Ibsen’s signature that was allegedly the motivation behind the murder of two years previous.  Surt sold the book to a collector for $130,000 which was then used for repairing the roof of Viking Hall.  Agnar Mildost thought it should have been sent as a donation to Seattle’s Nordic Heritage Museum. Agnar is suspicious because Surt’s Uncle Einar got the contract for the roof repair and he wonders if there was a secret rebate for Surt.  Agnar believes he is the protector of all things Norwegian and has an awful habit of occasionally speaking halting Norwegian with the same irritating Midwestern accent as the former Minnesota radio star Garrison Keilor.  Luckily, unlike Garrison, he knows he cannot sing a note.  Agnar only sings when he is alone and drunk.  (His last name translates to “Mild Cheese.”)

Bev Skrive, Recording Secretary
Beverly Skrive is scrupulously honest and takes things at face value.  She is concrete in the extreme.  She is originally from Duluth, Minnesota and believes that tuna hot dishes are a traditional and ancient form of Norwegian celebratory dinner.  Her favorite food is what they call “funeral salad” in the Midwest; namely Jello.  She is quiet by nature and only speaks when it is absolutely necessary.  Her passions are knitting and reading romance novels.  Her favorite TV show is the “Lawrence Welk Show.”  (Her last name translates to “Write” in Norwegian.)

Martha Slanders, President
She is still angry with Surt for what she thinks were financial shenanigans of the past and she harbors suspicions that Berta Travelhet took the wrap for the double murder at Viking Hall two years ago.  Martha suspects that Surt might have had a hand in the murder.  Her hidden sin is the Norwegian national secret pastime—“envy”.  Despite the fact she is now President of the Lodge and has been elected to a second term as District Secretary of Sons of Norway, she still feels passed over by what she calls the “Big Wigs” in the organization.  In her view she has done much for Sons of Norway but she has never been given the recognition by Sons of Norway she feels she deserves for all her work for “the good of the order.” She covets the post of Vice President of Sons of Norway; a position for which she campaigned and yet lost to another “Big Wig,” her nemesis Marit Stordame, the sister of Hegwig Høypåpæra, the woman who was brutally killed two years ago at Viking Hall.

Taler Stave, Membership Secretary

Taler Stave is from Wisconsin.  He is basically a happy fellow, especially when he can get hold of some real Norwegian goat cheese, brown and sweet.  Good natured since birth he is a peace maker in the Lodge.  Like most people from Wisconsin he is a little naïve and doesn’t really understand how the real world works.

Marit Stordame, Vice President, Sons of Norway

Equally arrogant as her murdered sister, Hedwig Høypåpæra, Marit Stordame lives in high elegance with her husband, Knute Stordame, in a large home overlooking the city.  She and her husband are members of the city’s high society.  They are also among America’s Norwegian-American elite and, as a consequence eat more caviar than pickled herring in the average year.  Marit and her husband are treated as royalty when they visit other Sons of Norway Lodges around the country and they have even been invited for dinner at the King’s Castle in Norway (it looks like a palace, but Norwegians call it a castle because they believe Norwegian Kings can only live in castles—so it is a castle even though it is a palace). Surt Mangepenger doesn’t cater to her status.  He refers to her, out of earshot, as “the Queen of Norway”.  She, in turn, has no love lost for Surt.  Like others, Marit Stordame believes he had a hand in the killing of her sister, Hedwig Høypåpæra.  An expert Skeet Shooter she often imagines Surt’s head exploding when she hits her clay pigeon targets on the range, and the thought relaxes her.  (Her last name translates as “Big Lady”.)
Bert Travelhet, Trustee 

Bert Travelhet, is now a Trustee.  His daughter, Berta Travelhet, was convicted last year for the gruesome murder of Trond Bokmusen, the Lodge Librarian, and his mother, Hedwig Høypåpæra, Vice President of Sons of Norway.  Berta was sentenced to life in prison for her crime.  Bert believes she took the fall for Surt Mangepenger, who he believes either convinced Berta to join him in the killings or even committed the murders on his own.  There is a strong suspicion that Berta and Surt were secret lovers two years ago.  Like many others, he hates Surt with all his heart.  He is a rough sort of fellow who made his living pouring concrete.  (His last name translates to “Fussing” or “Hustle and Bustle.”)
The Detectives

Nils Skarpnese, Master Detective
Nils Skarpnese is an able detective with the Police Department.  Though relatively young, he exudes confidence and authority and they say he has a sharp nose for crime. (His last name translates as “Sharp Nose.”)  Two years ago he was the lead detective in the investigation of the murder of Trond Bokmusen and Hedwig Høypåpæra at the Lodge.  Even though he is a new member of Sons of Norway, he has more insight into the doings at this dysfunctional Lodge than any other members of the Police Force. He carries himself with palpable authority and has a commanding voice. 
Matt O’Shea, Detective: (Optional Role)
Detective Matt O’Shea is of Irish heritage and is only slightly less experienced than Master Detective Nils Skarpnese, his boss of 2+ years. Yet, he is happy to assist Detective Skarpnese on his many difficult cases.  He found out 2 years ago that his family hails from Limerick, which was originally established as a Viking trading center.  After additional research into his Nordic roots, he has found to his dismay that he has definitely inherited Norwegian genes.  
(Optional Role:  Note that Act 4 includes considerable narration by Nils Skarpnese, and you may wish re-introduce the character of Matt O’Shea from the first play, at the end of in Act 2.  He need only observe Nils and the suspects, until Act 4.  As in the first Mystery Night play, the 2 detectives can then alternate narrating the details of the investigation for the audience in Act 4.) 

The Victim

Surt Mangepenger, Treasurer
Surt Mangepenger serves as the Lodge Treasurer and also as Treasurer for Viking Hall, the separate Board that manages the physical assets of the Bernt Balchen Lodge.  Surt’s personality might be described as being as sour as his first name implies.  A man of few words, either of praise or blame, he rarely smiles except at the misfortune of others and then with a slight, somewhat bemused smile or smirk.  However, he is known to be highly observant.  Surt’s half-closed eyes are always darting around the room taking everything in.  Oslo-born some say he is typical of his kind, the Norwegian “Østlendinger” (folks from the region in and around Oslo).  Østlendingers are said to be calculating and always looking out for the chance.  Some say they are “near Swedes.”   He is known for his love of exercise; particularly bicycling—a passion (if he can be said to have one) that he shares with Thor Hammar, the President of Viking Hall.  Surt also likes playing the stock market.  And for reasons that are hard to understand, he appears to attract the attention of women and takes full advantage of it when offered the opportunity.  (His last name translates as “Lots of Money.”  He shares his first name with Surt, the coal-black surly ice giant that fought against the gods at Ragarnok, the end of the world in Norse legend.  Surt means “Black” in Old Norse.)
List of Props Needed to Put On Murder at Sons of Norway

Lodge II
1. Theater revolver/or cap revolver from party/costume store (Can use a fake cap pistol but if so change script to reflect change).   You want as loud of report as you can find.  Another “fake” revolver or pistol for use of detective Skarpnese (this one does not have to make noise.)

2. Two “blood packs” from party or costume store (these are used by the victim).

3. White shirt to display blood from victim (disposable or old).

4. Sons of Norway paraphernalia for Board Meeting table (Small Norwegian flags, etc.)

5. Framed portrait of His Majesty, the King of Norway

6. Stretcher from Army/Navy store or jerry-rigged one made from blanket and two sturdy poles.  Plus, a sheet to cover the body on the stretcher.

7. Gavel to be on table beside President of the Lodge.

8. Notebook for the Recording Secretary.

9. Miscellaneous papers to be spread on Board Meeting table.

10. Light trench coat for use of Detective Skarpnese.

11. Fake hand-cuffs from a Party/Costume store.

12. Three portable tables with table cloths to serve as Board Meeting table.  Angle the two outer tables slightly toward the audience.

13. American, Norwegian, Canadian, and state (if you have one) flags with stands to flank the Board room table. 
14. You may also display large name tags on the table in front of each officer to make it easier for the audience to keep track of their names and position.  
Description of the Physical Scene:

Three large tables are set up with 12 chairs in front of the Viking Hall to mimic the physical setup of a typical Sons of Norway Lodge Board Meeting.  The two end tables are angled slightly forward and the whole meeting table arrangement is covered with tablecloths.  The actors that will be playing the various parts are already sitting in the chairs looking anxious, concerned, or just irritated (depending on their characters).  They sit at the meeting table facing the audience. As with most Board meetings not all officers are present.  The Lodge Cow Bell is on the table along with other Sons of Norway paraphernalia including a small Lodge banner and small Norwegian flags on stands.  A photo of the king hangs above on the mantelpiece. The President of the Lodge possesses a wooden gavel; the Recording Secretary has a notebook.  Minutes and papers appear before each of the Lodge officers.  
Clues for Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge II
(You are welcome to use these question clues when you make your choice of the culprit/culprits.  However, remember that one or more may be red herrings.)

Clue 1:   There are no signs of a scuffle at the crime scene.
Clue 2:   Surt Mangepenger, the victim, was shot by someone who used a .38 caliber pistol or revolver at close range.
Clue 3:  Who among the suspects is lying?
Clue 4:  Rumor has it that Surt Mangepenger and Astrid Galen were once lovers, are they still?
Clue 5:  Who among the several suspects do you think would have had the white hot anger that is usually necessary to a face-to-face killing of another human being?
Clue 6:  Was there one killer, two killers, or perhaps even more given the hatred the suspects all felt toward Surt Mangepenger?
Clue 7:  Is Detective Nils Skarpnese correct when he tells Agnar Mildost that people often kill those they fear the most?
Clue 8:  Both Hank Galen and Bert Travelhet both had good reasons to hate and despise Surt Mangepenger; who between the two, would you suspect as having the greater motive to kill?
Script

Opening Introduction By the Master of Ceremonies
(The Master of Ceremonies, who wears a formal suit or dress, comes in and addresses the audience.  He or she will guide the audience through the play.  You may also choose to modify the script and assign two people to this speaking part, to share the lengthy narration.)
Master of Ceremonies:  Ladies and Gentlemen lend me your ears.  Mystery Night is about to begin. Tonight I will be your guide to mayhem and murder as we present Murder at Sons of Norway Lodge II: Death Knocks Again. 
First a disclaimer—what are you about to see is all nonsense.  None of it is real and none of it is based on real people.  It is entirely made up. There is a Sons of Norway Lodge with an actual Viking Hall.  That is true.  Also, officers and members characters are fictional and cannot be found in any Lodge, at least we hope not.  Nonetheless, we ask you to suspend your critical faculties for the next hour or so and pretend that what you are seeing is real.
Also, nobody here is a professional actor.  The cast will be reading their lines and will do the best they can to move the play forward.  After the third act you will be given a chance to correctly guess the guilty party or parties in the play.  If you get it right you will be eligible for a door prize(s) to be awarded after the end of the third act.  So pay attention to what is done and said, for there may be clues that can help you pick the culprit or culprits. Also, we ask that you remain quiet and turn off your cell phones during the play so that everyone can enjoy Mystery Night.  
And so with that done, our Mystery Night play begins…
Master of Ceremonies (MC continues):  We are in Viking Hall, the physical home of this Sons of Norway Lodge.  Sons of Norway is a fraternal organization founded over 100 years ago to celebrate the culture and country of Norway.  Because of the egalitarian ideals of Norwegians both women and men are considered Sons of Norway irrespective of their actual gender.  So every daughter is a Son, so to speak, when it comes to Sons of Norway, but a son is never a daughter.
And to further complicate matters, you need to know that Sons of Norway Lodge has a governing Board paralleled by yet another Board, the Viking Hall Board, which cares for the actual physical building where the Lodge members meet, Viking Hall.  It makes no sense, but perhaps that is expected.  Most of these people are Norwegian after all! 
Most Sons of Norway Lodges are benign places where people come together to worship lefse and lutefisk and the other odd foods of Norway.  Most Norwegians are welcoming and uncomfortably nice.  But there are exceptions, and this Lodge is one of them.  Here, a dark malaise has crept into what was once the happy Viking Hall; the cultural anchor of some 400 Norwegians and miscellaneous Swedes, Danes, Finns and wanna’be Scandinavians.  Two years ago, long-suppressed envy and hatred among certain leading members of the Lodge erupted in a gruesome double murder.  Killed with brutal blows to the head were Hedwig Høypåpæra, the Vice President of Sons of Norway, and her son-in-law Trond Bokmusen, Lodge Librarian.  Trond was found crumpled and dead and wrapped in a blue tarp at the foot of the basement stairs and his mother-in-law was discovered in the woods beside the Lodge and also wrapped like a bloody burrito in a blue tarp.
Nils Skarpnese, one of city’s best detectives, led the investigation.  A man with a nose for crime, he sorted through the various suspects and zeroed in on the killer, a woman to his surprise. Berta Travelhet, the Lodge’s Cultural Director.  She had been caught in the act of stealing a highly valuable book that had been donated to the Lodge and had quickly dispatched the witnesses when they inadvertently stumbled upon her.  The book, autographed and inscribed by the famed Norwegian playwright Henrik Ibsen, was worth between $100,000 and $200,000 on the collector’s market.  Berta was eventually tried and convicted of the crime.  She was sentenced to life in prison.  
During his investigation Nils Skarpnese, felt like he had opened a jar of two-week old lutefisk.  There was something definitely rotten in this Sons of Norway Lodge.  The leadership of the Lodge was a stew of hidden hatred and envy.  Because he was not a member at the time of the murders, he had never suspected the social dysfunction that afflicted the governance of the Lodge.  He had eaten his lutefisk and lefse at the dinner events as a non-member and then left happy, after downing a shot of amber Linie Aquavit.
The first murders, as you might expect, had not served as a lightning rod for social healing.  Quite the opposite—bitterness, jealousy, and envy grew in the hearts of those that led the Lodge.  It is now two years since the last killings.  Will there now be more to uncover? Another eruption of violence?
We will see.  Let us next look in at another meeting of the Sons of Norway Board of Directors.  Will this be the night when the rotten lutefisk explodes?
(If you are providing dinner with the play, this is when to serve.  If not, continue the play with the actors still in their seats at the Board meeting table).
MC:  Here you see the Board busily engaged the business of the Lodge arranged around the Boardroom table.  As with most such meetings, there are missing members of the Board, who we will not mention. You, the audience, play the role of the members of the Lodge who are always encouraged to attend Board meetings, so as to learn the business of the Lodge.
(Play Action—The Board members should be sitting in order of importance on the flanks of the President who sits in the middle of the meeting table.  Marit Stordame as a guest sits at the far end of the Board meeting table. They sit impassive as he carries out this process looking at the audience and arranged behind the table like the Last Supper. At this point, the Master of Ceremonies introduces the members of the Board to the audience by standing behind them as he or she identifies them one by one.) 
Act I

The Board Meeting

(Play action—The Master of Ceremonies gestures to the audience, advises them to listen  and steps back out of the scene to listen to the Board, which now comes alive).
MC:    And now we listen in to the Board members as they go on with their deliberations.  
Anna Lisa:  Can you believe it has been two years to the day since murder of Trond Bokmusen and Hedwig Høypåpæra?  I can’t say I cared much for either of them, for in my opinion their scheming ways were not in the Lodge’s best interest.  I always think the Lodge comes first, before the welfare or benefit of any single person.  Yet, I regret their passing in that horrible way; no one deserves the brutal end they received.
Marit:  I am sick of you speaking ill of the dead Anna Lisa.  You always pretend to be so charitable and committed to our Lodge and to the members, but I know you did not like my sister and her son-in-law.  Perhaps because they threatened your ruling hand when you were President.  You pretend to be humble, but you wear your humility proudly as if it was a badge of honor.  Both Hedwig and Trond were leaders in the Lodge and you resented them for their success.

Taler Stave:  Now ladies, let’s not get into it here.  Ours is a fraternal Lodge and peace and tranquility is supposed to be the order of the day.

Marit:  Stick it, Taler!  No mealy-mouthed Wisconsin want-to-be farmer is going to tell me what I can and can’t do.  Anna Lisa made me mad and I am not going to just going to pretend she didn’t just insult my dead sister in front of my face.
Martha:  Well, I’m the President and I say let’s move away from this bickering and get back to work.

(Marit and Anna Lisa now look away from each other and stare into space)

Larry:  I would like to say something.
Martha:  (Rings the cow bell) You can’t, we don’t have the rest of the night to listen to you babble on about one thing or another.  
The business we have before us is whether or not the Trustees will be asked to inventory the utensils in the kitchen, the forks, knives and spoons, etc.  They haven’t been inventoried in 5 years.  People could have stuffed them in their purses or pockets just the way they pack away tons of stolen lefse on lutefisk night.  One day we are going to wake up and there won’t be a spoon or a fork in the place.
Hank:  I for one don’t want to count every spoon and knife in the kitchen.  It could take days.
Martha:  Then you shouldn’t have stood for election as a Trustee.  The Trustee’s job is to look after the property, the Lodge’s stuff.
Bert:  This talk of counting spoons and knives drives me crazy.  My daughter, Berta Travelhet, sits rotting in jail while we talk about trivial crap.  It was two years ago, at this very time of year, when she was falsely accused of the double murder at the Lodge.
Surt:  What do you mean falsely accused?  She was tried and convicted and on good evidence.  I am sorry for your loss, and I am sorry for her as well, for we were friends back then.  
Bert:  Now you say she was just your “friend.”  I think you two were more than friends and I think you betrayed her in the end anyway.  I think she loved you and would have done anything for you; and I think she did—she took the rap for you.  I think you killed Trond and Hedwig and let her pay the price.
Surt:  That’s a lot of nonsense Bert and you know it.  I won’t take it personally because I believe it is your grief talking.
Bert:  Don’t talk down to me Surt!  You were a prime suspect during the investigation but somehow wiggled yourself out of suspicion.  I think you did it and someday you will pay for what you did to my daughter.  I can’t believe I’m sitting here talking to a murderer.  What kind of Sons of Norway Lodge is this?  I quit.  Go ahead and count your precious spoons!  I’m not gonna’ do it!  I’m leaving. (He gets up and stalks off as if leaving)
Hank:  I am also sick of your smug mug Surt!  You sit there calmly like you are above everyone and everybody around you.  But I know you get down in the mud like everyone else when it pleases you.  It’s just that the mud doesn’t stick to you like it does to other people.
I am sure Bert was right when he said that you were messing with his daughter, for I know you are now messing with my wife.  I caught you two alone down in Storage Room 1 in the basement after the Lutefisk Dinner. 
(Astrid, who has been looking somewhat wistfully and sadly at Surt, now turns to Hank with a startled then angry expression)
Surt:  (Calmly) You’re being ridiculous Hank. We were just returning the big pots and pans to the storage room together.  There was nothing going on.  And if there was, it’s none of your business because you and she are separated and she is seeking a divorce.  One reason she’s now your estranged wife is because of your constant and outrageous jealous accusations.

Hank:  Don’t lecture me Surt!  Smug, above-it-all Surt!  Your way with women is to have your way with them.  You’re the talk of the Lodge.  I swear someday you are going to get yours.’  Something bad is going to happen, and as far as I am concerned, that would be good.  I’m outa’ here too; this Lodge sucks big time!  You can count your spoons till you all die and rot like old Swedish herring! (Hank stomps out glaring at his wife Astrid as he goes and heads toward an exit as if leaving.)
Bev:  (Turns to the President) Martha, as Recording Secretary, should I be recording all these testy conversations?
Martha:  No, people might read your notes years from now and get the wrong idea about our good Lodge.  They might think that these kinds of outbursts were normal at the Board meetings, when they are certainly the exception.  I’ve never seen such a thing!
Surt:  (Looking unruffled as usual) Well, I don’t know about you but we’ve been at it for near two hours and I got to see a man about a horse (Surt leaves for the restroom).
Martha:  (After Surt leaves) I know we need to get back to work, but I must say I have harbored my own suspicions about Surt.
Marit:  Well that’s one thing we two can seem to agree on and there are not many of them as you know.  I think the son of a bitch had something to do with the murder of my sister and her son-in-law.  I just can’t prove it.  Sometimes, like Hank said, I wish bad things would happen to Surt too.  But he just rides life like a wave.  I would like to see him sucked down by a maelstrom.  What is your take on all this Anna Lisa?
Anna Lisa:  I just don’t feel comfortable talking about this kind of stuff.  It’s all very upsetting and bad for the Lodge.  I don’t like it when things harm the good order of the Lodge.  It makes me very angry with people.  I don’t like it one bit! (Said emphatically.  Anna Lisa bangs her fist on the table and then looks surprised at her passion).
Thor:  I can’t believe what you are saying behind Surt’s back.  What’s with all this Surt bashing about?  Jealousy, I would think.  He is a successful businessman who has lent his talents to our Lodge.
(Loud yelling, screaming, and banging now come from the area of the Restroom.  The noise goes on for a minute or two then stops followed by running footsteps.  Soon after Surt comes gliding back into the room as if nothing had happened).
Martha:  (As Surt sits down she asks) What was all that commotion about?

Surt:  Well, if you must know.  Both Hank and Bert attacked me when I came out of the bathroom.  They were waiting there by the door and tried take me down.  Hank grabbed me by the shirt collar and tried to throw me down while Bert was kicking madly at my legs.  Both of their faces were scrunched up in anger.
So, I had to defend myself.  I gave each of them a good whack with the side of my hand on their Adam’s Apples and that did the trick.  Then they ran like Hell.  They apparently did not know that I am well practiced in the martial arts.  It’s been a long-term hobby of mine since my Army days.  So, that’s over. Now to business.
Martha:  Well, the last thing we need to talk about is the library.  Agnar, our Cultural Director, wants an allocation from the budget to bring the Trøndelag Stompers from St. Petersburg to provide entertainment during the upcoming Scandinavian Bazaar.
Agnar:  Yes, having the Trøndelag Stompers would really be a draw to both members and non-members alike.  Ivar Knekkefot of the Stompers can do a heck of a Halling Dance.  He can kick his heels 6 feet in the air.  It’s quite a show.  We can bring them here for $3,000.  It’s quite reasonable.
Surt:  Agnar, we’ll lose money on it for sure.  We’d have to sell a hell of a lot of pølse and lefse to break even.  I cannot in good conscience recommend such expenditure.
Agnar: (Said with passion.) You never support my ideas!  You always label them as too expensive or as potential money losers.  I don’t know why I even try.  I can’t succeed as the Cultural Director if I can’t bring Norwegian traditional culture to the Lodge.
Surt:  Think small, Agnar, and you will succeed.  All your ideas so far would break the bank.
Agar:  There you go again lecturing people like they are idiots.  You drove Hank and Bert to the point they are acting like crazy people.  Now you are driving me crazy mad.  You don’t seem to care about spending big bucks when it comes to your Uncle Einar who got the contract for fixing the roof for Viking Hall.  I heard Einar’s bid of $130,000 was at least $50,000 more than it should have cost to do the job well.  And what really gets to me is that $130,000 comes from the sale of our Lodge’s copy of Ibsen’s autographed book that you sold to a collector.  That book should have gone to the Nordic Heritage Museum where people could see and appreciate it.  It’s doubly regrettable, because that same book provoked the murder of two people two years ago.  Sometimes I feel so frustrated, I think I too could kill someone too.
Surt:  (Still calm and cool, with sarcasm) Well, kill away Agnar, kill away if you feel like it.
Agnar:  I just might Surt, I just might and it would be you if I did ! (Agnar gets up and also stomps out glaring and angry).  
Martha:  Well, we might as well call it a night.  We don’t want every member of the Board stomping out of here one at a time.  It is just after 9:00 P.M.  Let’s go home and sleep on it.
(All of the remaining Board members start to leave except for Surt Mangepenger who remains seated, intently working at the papers before him.)
Martha: (As she is leaving she turns looking at Surt.) Aren’t you leaving Surt? For all you know Bert and Hank could be back with revenge on their minds.
Surt:  No, I have some checks to write and some numbers to cipher.  I’ll be here another hour or so.  Have a good evening Martha.  I’ll be fine.  Those two crazy jentegutts don’t scare me one bit.  You should have seen their faces when I whacked each of them on their Adam’s apple.  They looked like scared rabbits. (Shaking her head, Martha is the last to leave.)
ACT 2

The Deed is Done
(Play action—MC goes around and turns off all but one spotlight on Surt.  Or, the MC shuts off most of the room light, except for a small desk lamp next to Surt that shines like a small spot light.  Surt sits alone, bathed in the light.  The time is 9:25 P.M.)

MC:  Let me show you all what happened next.  It is finally quiet in Viking Hall.  There is no talk of counting spoons, nor the sound of yelling, angry people.  The Board meeting is over, but Surt Mangepenger remains seated at the table writing checks and going over figures.  The work of the Treasurer is never done. Most of the lights in Viking Hall have been shut off.  Best to save money, mind you.  Electricity is costly these days.
MC:  (The sound of a door opening and closing is heard.).  Surt hears the outer door of Viking Hall open.   He raises his head to see if anyone has come in.  He sees no one.  Surt thinks—it is simply someone who forgot their purse or coat after the meeting.  (The sound of a door opening and closing is heard a second time.). Again, he hears the door open and close.  He assumes whomever came in has now left.  He goes back to his work.
Surt does not realize his mistake. He is wrong. There is actually someone in Viking Hall, walking very quietly.  First, creeping down the hall by the restrooms. Next in the kitchen, and in a few silent steps, a person stands before Surt.  Feeling a presence, he looks up.  I will transport you to that moment and embody the killer.  (The Master of Ceremonies has taken on the role of the “murderer” and acts in that role for the next few minutes in order to illustrate the killing)
Surt:  (With his half-lidded eyes, he calmly looks up at the person standing before him.)  Oh! It’s you.
MC:  At this point the person in front of him raises their arm and points it at Surt (Here the Master of Ceremonies carries out the murder.  Before Surt can react two shots are fired from a gun now visible in the hand that occupies the end of the extended arm.  Two bright red wounds appear on Surt’s chest and he slumps off his chair to the floor.  And there he lies, still as still as could be and dead as a doornail.)
The person who fired the shots stands looking at Surt for a good long minute, then slowly turns and exits Viking Hall. (Again, the sound of a door opening and closing. The Master of Ceremonies continues to stand by the dead Surt, narrating our story.  Lights go on again.) 
MC: In the morning, Surt’s cold, dead body is found by the Viking Hall Office Manager, who calls the police.  After an initial investigation of the body and its position, the responding police notify Detective Nils Skarpnese of another murder at the Sons of Norway Lodge.  He comes at once.  

MC:  (Skarpnese comes in the Hall now and moves around thoughtfully.  He pokes about Surt’s body observing, but he does not say anything). Nils (along with Matt O’Shea, if you are adding this optional character) carefully studies the scene of the murder and the object of the murder, Surt. After his investigation, two attendants from the Coroner’s Office are allowed to remove the body to the morgue for an autopsy (Surt is placed on a stretcher, covered, and taken out of Viking Hall.)
ACT 3
The Investigation

(Play action—Skarpnese calls each suspect in turn to have a talk alone with him or her.  Skarpnese sits at one end of the Board meeting table.  While the Master of Ceremonies is speaking, have clue sheets and ballots passed out to the audience. Nils should wait to speak until this is done.)  
MC:  It is the day after the murder; evening has fallen.  Now Detective Nils Skarpnese will begin his in-depth investigation of the crime, the murder of Surt Mangepenger, Lodge Treasurer.  Before interviewing the officers of the Lodge, Detective Skarpnese requested a copy of the notes from the Recording Secretary, Bev Skrive.  Contrary to the instructions of Martha Slanders, the Lodge President, Bev took down every word uttered at the Board meeting, whether good or ill was spoken.  After the murders two years ago, Bev believes that good records must be thorough and complete no matter what.  
Armed with Bev’s notes, Detective Skarpnese and his fellow detectives interviewed all the Board members who were present at the Board meeting.  From this set of interviews and the Board meeting notes, he has sorted out those who are clearly suspects from those who are unlikely to have been involved in Surt Mangepenger’s violent death.
Detective Skarpnese will now shape his questioning to try to bring out the killer or killers from among the gaggle of suspects At this point most of the suspects think they are simply being interviewed as witnesses and act accordingly.  We now begin eavesdropping on the interviews.
Nils:  (Nils first calls in Martha Slanders, Lodge President. He calls out) Could Martha Slanders come into the Hall? 
(Play action—Martha hesitantly comes into the Hall and sits in a chair across from Nils Skarpnese.  He is sitting at the end of the Board meeting table in a chair at a slight angle and stands at her approach.  He offers her a chair. Martha Slanders sits opposite at the very end of the table so her profile is seen by the audience)  
Nils: I’m curious as to why you asked Bev Skrive to keep an incomplete record of the Board meeting; to leave out some of the discussions by the Board members.  This complete record of the Board meeting is most illuminating.
Martha:  Well, I certainly was not covering up for a murder that I could not have anticipated.  I simply thought some of the more injudicious remarks by the Board members should not be left to posterity.  What if future members of the Lodge found those notes in 5 or 10 years; it would give the false impression that we were a terrible bunch of people.

Nils:  Very well.  What did you think of Surt Mangepenger?  What was your relationship with him like?  Be honest.

Martha:  Outside of serving together on the Board I tried to keep my distance from Surt.  I’ve always had the feeling that he had something more to do with the murder of Trond Bokmusen and Hedwig Høypåpæra.  On the face of it he made a good Treasurer, but there too I suspect he was hiding something.  He could have been stealing us blind and I wouldn’t have realized it.  He is too good with the books.
What concerned me about Surt is that he seemed to be a catalyst for ill feeling at the Lodge.  Whenever trouble arose he seemed to be there.  He never seemed to start it.  He might egg it on, but that’s all. Trouble always seemed arise when Surt was present. Sometimes I wished that he would stop getting nominated to the post of Treasurer.  Thor Hammar, our current Foundation Director, nominated him without fail each year.  And he got voted in like clockwork by the members year after year.
What I have always been worried about is that we would have a repeat of the big mess he was the center of two years ago.  That kind of thing hurts the Lodge and its status in Sons of Norway.  It also reflects on me as President of the Lodge and I have ambitions for higher office in Sons of Norway.
Nils:  Tell me Martha, is there anyone in the Lodge that you think had it out for Surt?  

Martha:  As you know already, Hank Galen was madder than hell at Surt.  He left the Board meeting yelling away.  Then he came back with Bert Travelhet to physically attack Surt outside the men’s restroom.  Hank had the suspicion that Surt was hitting on his estranged wife Astrid Galen.  Bert Travelhet had also stomped out of the meeting, after he accused Surt of killing Hedwig and Trond and setting up his daughter to take the fall.  
Then there is Agnar Mildost who has been very angry with Surt, because Surt had sold the historic Ibsen volume in order to fix the Viking Hall roof.  And you should not forget Marit Stordame.  Surt treated her like an “anybody” rather than as a “somebody,” which is what she usually demands and gets.  On top of that she suspects, like some of the other members of the Lodge, that Surt was somehow involved in the deaths of her own sister as well as Trond Bokmusen two years ago.  Did you know she is well practiced with guns? Shooting is a hobby she shares with her husband.
Nils:  Thank you, Martha for your cooperation and insights.  I will get back to you if I have any further questions.  Please remain in the Lodge until I have finished questioning the other witnesses (Martha leaves the main hall).
Nils:  Could Hank Galen please come into the Hall?

(Now Hank Galen enters on the scene as requested.  Nils Skarpnese gets up from the table to escort him to his seat)
Nils:  Hello Hank.  I wonder if you could enlighten me as to why you joined Bert Travelhet in assaulting Surt Mangepenger the other day.  That attack is quite serious and could have led to a jail sentence.  Why were you so angry at Surt?
Hank:  You’d be angry too, if someone was messing with your wife.  Surt has been sniffing around Astrid for months.  She has gone so far as to ask me for a divorce.  And Surt sat there at the Board meeting all high and mighty and denying that he had had anything to do with my wife.

Nils:  But you and Astrid are separated, she and Surt were free to do whatever.

Hank:  Do whatever, you say!  Would you let another man lick your lutefisk just because you put it down for a minute?  No.  Just because we are temporarily separated, it shouldn’t have been seen as the invitation for Surt to cozy up to Astrid.  She is still my legal wife, and as far as I am concerned, still the love of my life.  She is mine, not his.  And now with Surt dead, she sure ain’t his.

Nils:  Hank, did you shoot Surt?
Hank:  Nope, but I would be happy to shake the hand of the man that did it.

Nils:  (Stares at Hank a moment after the remark.) We are done for now Hank, but stick around in case I have some other questions for you.
(Hank leaves the room.)

Nils:  (Nils calls Bert Travelhet for his interview.) Could Bert Travelhet please come in the hall? 
Nils:  (Bert enters and walks to the table where Nils Skarpnese is sitting.  Nils gets up and offers him a seat.) Sit down Bert and tell me why you attacked Surt Mangepenger outside the men’s restroom the other day in the company of Hank Galen.  What would drive you to do that?
Bert:  Surt drove me to do it.  I was sick of his smarmy, smiling arrogance.  The guy’s a turd and that’s that.  Here is a man that killed two people two years ago and manipulated my daughter to take the rap for the double murder.  How could my little Berta have the strength and hatred necessary to bludgeon two people to death?  She loved Surt, and of all things, she gave her life for him.  Now she rots in prison.  It kills me every time I think of it.  And that heartless bastard didn’t care.  He started running around with Astrid, and anyone else that would hit his fancy.
Nils:  Did you and Hank plan the double assault on Surt?
Bert:  No, it’s a case of great minds thinking alike.  Both of us got the notion of turning around after we had left the Lodge in order to give Surt the beating he deserved.  By coincidence we both got to Viking Hall at the same time and there was Surt, smirking as he was coming out of the restroom.  We both just acted on our impulses and went for him.  Didn’t give it a thought.  It was so natural and right.  But Surt popped us both on the windpipe soon after we started to grapple with him.  The force of the blows surprised us and we both stumbled away to recover.  It hurt like hell! He always seemed to have an advantage over others; an edge that always got him his way. 
Nils:  Are you happy Surt is dead?
Bert:  Yes and no.  I am happy that he is dead.  The son of a bitch deserved to die!  He caused my daughter and I so much pain.  On the other hand, because of his death I’ll never be able to beat a confession out of him.  He may be dead and that is good, but my daughter is still in jail and that is bad.
Nils:  You may go Bert, but remain in the Lodge for I may have more questions later (Bert now shuffles out of the Main Hall).
Nils:  (Marit Stordame is now called in by the Detective for questioning) Would Marit Stordame please enter the Hall? 
(Marit walks in with pride and authority.  Nils stands and gestures her to sit).
Nils:  Marit, sit down.  I have a few questions for you.  First, what was your relationship with Surt Mangepenger like?
Marit:  Cold.  He treated me with no respect and I had no regard for him.  He was a snake in the grass.  Whenever he had a chance, he pounced with some snide remark to put me at a disadvantage.  I think you know he called me the “Queen of Norway” behind my back.

He seemed to quietly sow discord at the Lodge.  Surt appeared to be able to set everyone against the other while he sat back and enjoyed the bickering he had unleashed.  I think he was bad for the Lodge and the reputation of Sons of Norway.  Who would want to join a Lodge where people only argue and fight with each other—and even murder each other?  I think he was the cause of the problems we have had of late.  And I also believe he was somehow involved with the death of my sister and her son-in-law.  I can’t believe that Berta, by herself, was capable of a brutal double homicide.  But I can imagine Surt doing it with quiet relish.  Surt was a bad man; a sociopath in my view.  I am glad he is gone.
Nils:  You are quite familiar with firearms aren’t you?
Marit:  (Looking both agitated and nervous) What are you trying to say? That I murdered him?

Nils:  No, I was simply asking if you are proficient with firearms.  That’s all.  It was a question, not an accusation.  It’s my job to ask questions.
Marit:  Yes, I would have to say I am familiar with firearms, but I am not in the habit of killing people with them.  I am an avid skeet shooter.
Nils:  As a skeet shooter I assume you possess one or more shotguns.  But what about hand guns? Would you happen to own a .38 caliber revolver, by any chance?
Marit:  I must admit I carry a .38 for protection.  I keep it in my purse should I ever need it.  I have not fired it for months; you are welcome to check.

Nils:  Thank you, I might take you up later on that offer.  What about a .45 caliber pistol, would you also have one of those?
Marit:  I once had a .45 caliber pistol but I lost it this last summer on a hike.  I have no idea how it came out of my holster.
Nils:  That’s too bad; they can be very effective protection in the wilderness. We are done for now anyway.  Thank you; you may go, but stay around the Lodge, for I may have additional questions.  
(Marit leaves, giving Nils a hard questioning look before she goes).
Nils:  (At this point Astrid Galen, the Outer Greeter, is called in by Nils.) Could I see Astrid Galen at this time? 
Nils: (He stands up to greet her and gestures for her to sit down.)   Good evening Astrid.

Astrid:  Good evening Detective Skarpnese.  I must ask you, am I a suspect too?

Nils:  No, no; relax.  I am simply talking to people who may be able to shed light on the murder of Surt Mangepenger.  Could you tell me about your relationship with Surt?
Astrid: (Looking startled and nervous) What do mean by that?  That we were having an affair or something?

Nils:  I was not fishing for any particular answer.  It was a simple question.  I meant to imply nothing.  However, your estranged husband Hank strongly believes you did have a romantic relationship with Surt.  Is he right, or not?

Astrid:  Hank is an extremely jealous person.  That is why I left him. I could not stand his jealous fits any longer.  When he was elected Trustee, I was so disappointed because I knew he chose to become an officer of the Lodge simply to spy on me.

Nils:  So, what was the nature of your relationship with Surt, then? 
Astrid:  We were fellow Lodge members and officers.  That is all.  Our relationship was fraternal, not carnal, as you imply!
Nils:  Why do other members of the Lodge also believe that you were having an affair with Surt?
Astrid:  Probably because Hank told them it was true.  He told anyone who would listen that we were always down in the basement, heating up the storage rooms.

Nils:  Many of the Lodge members do not have nice things to say about Surt.  What is your opinion?
Astrid:  He was a manipulative son-of-a-bitch.  He appears to be your friend and then he sets you up for a fall—the guy was a true deceiving bastard.

Nils:  You mention he set you up for a fall.  What do mean by that?

Astrid:  (Looks agitated and anxious) Nothing.  Just that Surt was the type of person that liked to fool people and hurt them when he thought the time was right.  Are we done yet?  I am tired of talking about Surt.
Nils:  Yes, you may go for now but stick around Viking Hall for I may have more questions for you. 
(Astrid now leaves the Hall.) 
Nils:  (At this point Agnar Mildost is called in by Detective Skarpnese. Nils stands and gestures for him to sit.) Could Agnar Mildost please come in the Hall? 
Agnar:  (He enters hesitantly.)  Detective, what do want of me?  I haven’t killed anyone.
Nils:  I did not say you had.  I just wanted to ask you some questions to see if you can help me shed some light on Surt Mangepenger’s unfortunate demise.
Agnar:  Well, I for one, don’t think it unfortunate that he died.  Like many others in this Lodge I am happy he is gone.  His presence was like poison to the life of the Lodge.
Nils:  Could you tell me what he did to win your hate?
Agnar:  The worst thing he did, from my point of view, is sell the inscribed Ibsen book.  That was a museum treasure; and in my opinion he sold it cheap—for a mere $130,000; if he even sold it for that amount.  He could have sold it for more and then pocketed the money.  Nobody would have been the wiser.  Well, then he takes the $130,000 and contracts with his Uncle Einar for the roof repair for Viking Hall.  I am sure he got a rebate from Einar, for I believe $130,000 is a pretty cushy price for the repair work.
But that is not all.  At every Board meeting he played with me.  Everything I suggested he belittled and squashed with one or another accountant’s excuse.  He used to be able to gauge when I was particularly passionate about something and then he would dash all my dreams to pieces.  At the last meeting he crushed all my hopes to bring the Trøndelag Stompers from St. Petersburg to the Lodge for a night of traditional Norwegian folk dancing.  I thought I would die.  Now he died instead!  His death gives me hope that I have seen the end of bullying at Viking Hall.
Nils:  Did you kill him?
Agnar:  Are you kidding? I am a milktoast and everybody knows it.  It took someone with more guts than I have.

Nils:  Did you know that scared people often kill the very people that they fear—especially with guns?
Agnar:  (Looks away and then at the floor).  No, I did not know that.
Nils:  We are done Agnar.  You may go, but don’t leave Viking Hall for I may have more questions for you later (Agnar leaves with a worried expression).
Nils:  (Immediately after Agnar leaves, Anna Lisa Lefse is asked to come in by Detective Skarpnese.) Would Anna Lisa lefse please come in? 
(She slowly walks in; she is both nervous and agitated)
Nils:  (Nils stands to greet her and offers her a chair with his arm.) Please take a seat. 
Anna:  Again I am a suspect in a murder!  I stood accused two years ago of killing Trond and Hedwig.  Now I am hauled in for another interrogation.  I can’t believe you would think me capable of murder.  It upsets me a great deal!
Nils:  Calm down Anna, you are merely being questioned as someone who might help me solve this case.  You are not a suspect.
Anna:  Then why have you chosen to question just me and a few other officers and members, if we are not all suspects?  You haven’t chosen to question all the members of the Lodge.  You have chosen only to question us few.  Don’t try to fool me.  If you don’t stop lying to me I will get the Mayor to include you in the upcoming reduction in force at the police department.
Nils: (Irritated.) You are now a suspect!  I hope that makes you happy?  Now, let’s talk.  What was your relationship with Surt Mangepenger?
Anna:  I didn’t like him one bit.  He was a crafty, nasty man.  I, like most people, think he had something to do with the killings of Trond and Hedwig.  If you would have been the able detective you think you are, you would have discovered that two years ago.  You foolishly thought that little Berta Travelhet was the sole killer.  How dumb can you be?  Dumb as a Swede with but half a brain—that’s the answer.
Nils:  Let’s get off the name calling.  Had Surt done anything of late that made you angry?
Anna:  Surt always seemed to be up to something.  I had a sneaking suspicion that he had taken a rebate on the contract for the repair the Viking Hall roof.  Surt also had a knack for sowing discord within the Lodge.  With a few carefully crafted words he could ignite open enmity among the members.  He seemed bemused by it all, like a child playing with insects.  He was bad for the Lodge.  Once a new member saw vicious, petty arguments erupt in the open at business meetings, they would quickly become former members.  Hardly anyone attends the business meetings anymore.  Like a spider, Surt was sucking the life out of the Lodge from the inside. He took perverse pleasure from it.
Nils:  Are you happy he is dead?
Anna:  (Getting agitated again.)  I am not falling into your trap, Detective.  Anyway, I think you know the answer to that question.  Or at least, you think you know.
Nils:  O.K Anna Lisa, you may go, but remain in Viking Hall until I say you can go.  I may need to ask you some more questions. 
(Anna leaves still angry and agitated. Nils remains seated at the meeting table. The MC wraps up the scene and invites the audience to review the clue sheets and guess the murderer.)
MC:  You have now gained a glimpse into the bitter resentments and twisted emotions that lie just beneath the surface in the Lodge.  You have heard from many of the folks that Nils Skarpnese considers persons of interest in the case of the murder of Surt Mangepenger.  
Now, before we go further, please take the next few minutes to recall the interviews by Nils Skarpnese.  It is time for you to decide who the killer or killers might be.  A ballot been passed out to each of you.  Print your name at the top of the ballot and then please write the name or names of the person or persons you believe committed the murder.  When you are done fold your ballot once and place it in the containers that will be passed around the room.  These ballots will be proof of your attentive skills, for if you correctly pick the killer or killers, you will be eligible for a door prize(s) at the end of the play.  No ballots will be accepted after the start of Act 4, when we will conclude Mystery Night and reveal the culprit or culprits who took the life of Surt Mangepenger.
(15-20 minute intermission for collecting the ballots. If you’ve served a dinner, you may pass out a dessert now or offer a dessert buffet, coffee & tea to your guests.)
Act 4 

Who Did the Deed?

(Play action—At the beginning of Act 4, we find Nils Skarpnese deep in thought, mulling over the suspects. The scene opens near the same table that Detective Nils Skarpnese used in questioning the Lodge Board Members.  He is standing beside the meeting table.  Quickly moving about, he reveals his thinking about the potential suspects to the audience and the seated Board members.  

At the end of this act, the Master of Ceremonies wraps up the evening.  During Act 4, all of the audience ballots are examined off stage and the correct ones placed in a container for a prize drawing.  Modify script below, depending on the number of prizes.  When you are ready to draw winners, ask members of the audience to help.  After the drawing is complete, the MC thanks the audience for attending and brings the actors out to take their bow.)
MC:  Now we come to the 4th and final act!  The mystery will be revealed by the brilliant Detective, Nils Skarpnese.  Soon you will know who brought death to knock again at the Lodge door.  Who could the culprit or culprits be?  I do not know, for such knowledge lies only in the future of our play.  Let us allow that future to unfold before our very eyes.
Nils:  I know that you members and Board members of the Lodge are anxious to return to your homes and loved ones.  But I needed you to be available to the questions of my fellow detectives and myself.  Some of you were questioned personally by me; others by my assistants.  I know it has been a long evening for many of you, waiting to be called forward for questioning.

My problem is that no one witnessed the actual murder.  Two loud bangs—gun shots—were heard at approximately 9:30 P.M. yesterday evening by members of Dry Dock, the AA facility, which rents the east basement of Viking Hall.  Unfortunately, no one reported the gun shots to the Police Department, or showed curiosity about them.  The Director of Dry Dock said that they hear so many strange noises coming from Viking Hall, the loud reports were hardly anything out of the ordinary. To many Dry Dock witnesses, the two successive bangs sounded very much like two hammer blows.  No one saw anyone leaving, or driving away, after the shots.
A further difficulty, beyond the lack of on-scene witnesses, is that all the evidence is circumstantial.  There is no physical evidence that we can find, other than the bullets found in Surt Mangepenger’s dead body and two expended shell casings found near his body.  These casings are from a .38 caliber hand gun.  Also, our forensics team calculates from the nature of Surt’s wounds and the location of the shell casings that he was shot at close range.  Maybe from 6 to 10-feet away.  
And I am frustrated by the timing of the murder.  The shots rang out about 9:30 P.M. according to the Dry Dockers.  Any of the potential suspects could have waited outside, and then returned when he or she thought the coast was clear.  Or the killer could have driven off and then quickly doubled back.  Everybody claims to have gone home, and for those who live with a wife or family, we can confirm all were back by 10:30 P.M.  But several do not live with anybody. We could not independently confirm when they arrived at home.  The point is that anyone that was here that night could have come back and killed Surt and still gotten home approximately on time.  We can find no one who stands out, as far as time is concerned, among those that stayed at the Board meeting after Bert, Hank, and Agnar all left in anger.
According to their story, Bert and Hank bought two six packs and drank away the night at Bert’s house.  No one saw them come or go. Agnar Mildost claims he went home and put on his latest CD of Garrison Keillor songs, sang along with Garrison and drank a full bottle of Linie Aquavit to drown his sorrows.  Unfortunately, nobody in his neighborhood saw him come or go.

There is nothing tangible about this case, so I have had to rely on the answers I got from those I believed might be potential culprits in this case. I also looked at their body language and their personalities.  I think Bert and Hank had the necessary blind hatred of Surt that one or the other of them would have killed Surt if they could have formed decent plan to carry it out.  Each of the men own pistols, but they are .44s, not the smaller caliber .38 that was the firearm used in the killing.  Both, however, are somewhat volatile and uncontrolled in their actions.  Their emotions tend to cloud their brains.  I think it unlikely that either of them shot Surt.  Surt was apparently sitting at the table when the killer or killers came in.  We believe he did not get up, for when he died, he simply slumped to the ground from his seat. 
After Surt’s brief violent encounter with Bert and Hank earlier that evening, if those two came in, I believe he would have gotten up to be in a better position to confront them and defend himself.  Also, he was facing the two doors that open up into the main hall, the double doors, and the door to the kitchen.  Either of those two would have had trouble sneaking up on Surt given his commanding view from the table.
As to Agnar Mildost, he might have wanted to kill Surt, but he is another jentegutt.  Such a self- declared milktoast does not have the necessary heart to carry something like that out.  Also, there is no record that he had bought a gun in his life much less fired one.  To imagine Agnar striding up to Surt and shooting him point blank is difficult for me.
Martha Slanders is another unlikely candidate.  Though she didn’t appear to like Surt, she seems to have been able to tolerate him and had developed a working relationship of sorts with the guy.  She seems to have much more testy feelings about Marit Stordame, who she sees as a powerful rival.  It is interesting to note that Martha made sure that I knew that Marit was good with guns.

As to Anna Lisa Lefse, she is more difficult to pin down.  She has a lot of hidden anger that pops up now and again.  She generally can keep a lid on her feelings. But, if they did they erupt into violence, it would be because she had finally decided that Surt was bringing down the Lodge with his passive-aggressive behavior aimed at other Lodge members…plus his financial manipulations were unbearable to her.  Still, my hunch is it was not her who pulled the trigger this time, though she was overly defensive with me while I was questioning her.  Furthermore, we can find no record that she has ever purchased a firearm of any kind.
Marit Stordame is another story.  Like Anna Lisa Lefse, she believed that Surt was dragging down the Lodge with both his financial malfeasance and his enjoyment in setting off conflict among the officers and members.  In addition, he gave her no respect despite her high position in society and in Sons of Norway.  For someone like Marit, who has a high opinion of herself, this is probably unforgivable.  
But, the real clincher is the murder of Marit’s own sister, Hedwig, two years ago.  If Marit believed that Surt had a significant hand in the brutal murder of her sister, her hatred of Surt could have slowly ignited a visceral desire for vengeance.  It must have been difficult for her to deal so frequently with a person who she thought killed her sister.  Someone whose behavior was openly damaging to both herself, and her beloved Lodge.  Marit may have seen Surt as murdering the Lodge, as surely as he had murdered her sister. Moreover, as someone who had risen high in Sons of Norway, she had demonstrated that she had the kind of resolve it would take to achieve a difficult goal.  In this case that goal may have been the death of Surt Mangepenger.  Also, she had the skill set necessary to carry out a successful murder; namely willpower, brains, and a gun.  As an experienced shooter, she was comfortable with both hand guns and rifles.  And interestingly, she openly admitted she carried a .38 caliber revolver in her purse for self-protection.
My other prime suspect is Astrid Galen.  She is the only person that clearly lied to me about her relationship with Surt.  She quickly tried to dismiss the notion that she had any romantic connections with him.  Yet, their recent affair has been the talk of the Lodge.  With that much smoke there has to be a hot fire somewhere.  And Hank wasn’t the only person in the Lodge to see them slip off into a storage room or two during Lodge events.  At the Christmas Brunch, Surt and Astrid were volunteering in the kitchen.  They suddenly disappeared for what folks estimated was close to an hour.  When Surt returned to the kitchen, he was wearing his famous smirk; like he had swallowed a canary.  Astrid appeared soon thereafter looking a little flushed and embarrassed.
Some Lodge members noted a change in Astrid’s and Surt’s behavior during the New Year’s Dinner.  Surt arrived with another woman who was all “Hollywooded up.”   He seemed pleased by the stares he got from the other attendees; especially the men who were craning their necks to see this woman.  However, Astrid, who bounced in to the Lodge happy-faced, did not share Surt’s pleasure.  Soon after seeing Surt and his buxom escort, Astrid’s face darkened. She quickly left Viking Hall.
I understand that Astrid was casting wistful looks at Surt during the Board meeting just prior to the murder.  However, according to the other Board members, her gazes were furtive and she would quickly look away and then look down at the floor.  Other officers at the meeting thought she looked sad, even depressed.
If Astrid had killed Surt, it would have been a crime of calculated passion.  Rejected and even mocked by Surt for giving her heart, and much more to him, she may have felt crushed and humiliated.  After spending 10 years with that jealous loser and ingrate, Hank Galen, she found an accomplished man who seemed to appreciate her.  Just when she thought she had hope of a good life, Surt in his typical way dashed her dreams.  Conflicted with the strong emotions of love, and hate, she may have decided to make Surt pay the price of playing with her heart.  
Interestingly, Astrid bought a .38 at Sven’s “You Betcha” Gun Shop soon after New Year’s Day.

If she shot Surt, it would explain why he had remained sitting at the table.  In his mind she would have posed no threat; she had only been a short term treat.  Now he was done with her.  In fact, he may have wondered why she was even there, standing before him.  Perhaps Surt misjudged the emotions he stoked up in the people that he messed with.  Here, he had toyed with a Scandinavian woman’s heart; this is not something that one should do lightly, as poor Gunnar found out just before his untimely demise in Njal’s Saga. 
(At this point we hear the outer door of Viking Hall open twice in close succession, running footsteps followed by a gunshot.)

Hank:  (Hank Galen comes running into the main hall across the stage.  Astrid follows, pointing a gun at him.  Hank falls to his knees in front of her, in fear.  He is pleading and clearly scared.)  Please, do not shoot, please do not shoot Astrid!  I was your husband for 10 years!
Astrid:  That’s just the point you son of a bitch!  I had ten years of hell!  Now you are going there tonight and it will be for more than 10 years!
Hank:  (Cowering)  Please don’t, please don’t . . . . . . . . .

Astrid:  I am sick of you men.  First you, and then Surt.  Now I have turned the tables.  I took care of Surt.  I am going to do the same to you Hank.  Say “Hi” to Surt for me when you meet him in Hell!  Bye Bye! (Hank falls to the ground in blubbering heap).
(While Astrid’s attention is focused on Hank, Nils Skarpnese eases out of her sight.  He moves quietly and quickly, appearing behind Astrid. At this point Nils aims his revolver at Astrid’s back.)

Nils:  Police!  Don’t move!  Put the gun down. (Astrid reluctantly puts the gun down on the floor.) Step back one step and put your arms behind you.

(Nils takes out his handcuffs and restrains her.  Her body slumps and she looks surprised and bewildered.  He puts his gun away in his pocket. With her restrained he picks up her gun and puts it in one of his pockets).
Nils:  It’s all over now Astrid.  You solved the murder for me.  I did not know whether the killer was Marit or you.   I had little evidence to go on other than gut feeling.  So, thank you for making it easy for me.  Let’s go.  (He parades her across the room and out of sight.  Hank gets up, stunned as Nils leads her away.  Hank slowly heads for the exit shaking his head; his shoulders slumped.)
MC:  Please keep to your seats, for although the play has concluded, Mystery Night has not.  It is time to acknowledge those who correctly identified the culprit before the last act.  We have several prizes.  If more than one of you correctly identified the killer of Surt Mangepenger, we will have a drawing from the number of successful sleuths.
Master of Ceremonies:  (After announcing drawing winners and cast members have taken a bow.)  Now Mystery Night is done.  You may return to your happy homes until the next time death knocks at this Sons of Norway Lodge.
The End
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